**RECEIVED**

**Mar 23 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Circuit

The Honorable G. D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-002136

---

SHELTER, LLC, JASON HIGHSMITH, AND KACIE HIGHSMITH..... Respondents

v.

DESIGN GAPS, INC., DAVID GLOVER, AND EVA GLOVER..... Appellants

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

Todd M. Hess, Esq.  
HESS LAW, PLLC  
SC Bar No. 102966  
308 Givens Street  
Waxhaw, NC 28173  
Telephone: (980) 213-6929  
Fax: (980) 300-0089  
toddhess@biziplaw.com

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Did the trial judge err when he ruled that there was no timely motion to vacate or modify the Arbitrator's Final Award?**

**SUGGESTED ANSWER: Yes.**

- II. Did the trial judge err in failing to find that the Arbitrator exceeded his powers when imposing contract deadlines that went beyond the scope of the agreement and failing to issue a reasoned award based upon his findings pursuant to the AAA Commercial Arbitration Rules?**

**SUGGESTED ANSWER: Yes.**

- A. Did the trial judge err in failing to find that the contract deadlines imposed by the Arbitrator were beyond the scope of the contracts?**

**SUGGESTED ANSWER: Yes.**

- B. Did the trial judge err in finding that the Arbitrator issued a reasoned award?**

- III. Did the trial judge err in finding that the Arbitrator did not refuse to hear evidence and did not conduct the hearing on the merits in such a way to prevent substantial prejudice to Appellants' rights?**

**SUGGESTED ANSWER: Yes.**

- IV. Did the trial judge err in finding that the Arbitrator did not manifestly disregard the law?**

**SUGGESTED ANSWER: Yes.**

- V. Did the trial judge err in granting Respondents' petition to confirm the Arbitrator's Final Award and failing to instead vacate the Arbitrator's Final Award?**

**SUGGESTED ANSWER: Yes.**

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND**

This matter originates from an action whereby Respondents as Claimants filed an American Arbitration Association demand against Appellants as Respondents in an arbitration (“Arbitration”). Demand for Arbitration (*See R. pp. 26-39*). Respondent Shelter, LLC (“Shelter”) provided the construction coordination at the residence, and the Respondents Jason Highsmith and Kacie Highsmith (“Highsmiths”) owned the residence. The Arbitrator issued an award in favor of the Respondents and granted their request for attorneys’ fees. Arbitrator’s Final Award (*See R. pp. 150-59*). The claims in the Arbitration were breach of contract, promissory estoppel, and piercing the corporate veil. Appellants entered counterclaims in the Arbitration for negligence, breach of contract, fraudulent misrepresentation, failure to mitigate damages, tortious interference, civil conspiracy, conversion, unfair and deceptive trade practices, quasi-contract, and violation of the copyright act. Binding Commercial Arbitration Respondents Counterclaim (*See R. pp. 67-106*).

#### **A. The Agreements**

Respondents entered two contracts in August and September 2020 with Design Gaps to design and install various cabinet systems and the master closets (“Contracts”) at the residence of the Highsmiths located at 376 Ralston Creek Street, Daniel Island, South Carolina (“Residence”). The first contract, dated August 18, 2020, was for \$234,602.35 and was executed between the Highsmiths, Shelter and Appellant Design Gaps, Inc. (“Design Gaps”) to provide cabinets in the kitchen, pantry, office, mudroom, various vanities, laundry, and game room bar of Residence. Contract to Provide Cabinets (*See R. pp. 22-23*). The second contract, dated August 18, 2020, and signed September 6, 2020, was for \$97,634.59 and was executed only between the Highsmiths and Design Gaps to provide his-and-her master closets. Contract to Provide His-and-Her Master Closets (*See R. pp. 24-25*). The Contracts were silent with respect to any completion date.

The Highsmiths originally contracted with A Closet Case in Daniel Island to design and install the his-and-her master closets sometime in July 2020. A Closet Case Contract (*See R. p. 21*). Unhappy with the A Closet Case quality soon after the A Closet Case installation, The Highsmiths contacted Design Gaps who had installed Downsview Kitchens cabinetry for the master bath and closets in the Highsmiths' previous home a few years prior to this installation.

The Highsmiths chose Design Gaps' lower price line of cabinetry instead of the higher end Downsview Kitchens line offered by Design Gaps. Similarly, the Highsmiths had selected the lower price line for the earlier contract for the Main House cabinetry at the urging of Jenny Butler, Shelter's product coordinator. The Highsmiths paid Design Gaps on September 6, 2020, in the amount of \$97,634.59 to redesign and provide all new cabinetry for the his-and-her master closets.

With respect to copyright protection, both agreements expressly provided in bold type of the front of the agreement the following:

**“ALL DESIGNS CREATED REMAIN THE SOLE PROPERTY OF DESIGN GAPS, INC. AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF DESIGN GAPS, INC.”**

(*See R. p. 22*). With respect to change orders or amendments to the agreements, each contract provided:

**“4. CHANGE ORDERS. All changes to the contract shall be reflected by written change orders signed and dated by all parties and specifically stating the changes and increase or decrease in contract price. Any revised plans and specifications when signed and dated by the parties shall completely amend prior plans and specifications.”**

(*See R. p. 23, ¶4*). With respect to any breaches of the agreements, each contract provides the following:

**“13. BREACH OF CONTRACT. The Seller retains the right upon breach of this agreement by the Buyer or any unpaid balances to Design Gaps, Inc. to sell any goods or merchandise in the Seller's possession. In effecting any resale on breach of this agreement, the Buyer shall remain liable for any net deficiency on resale. The Seller shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees and costs.”**

“13a. Buyer shall pay all monies when due in accordance with this contract and may not withhold any money or payment after substantial completion of work. Failure to pay will constitute a breach by buyer.”

(*Id.* at ¶ 13a). Each agreement also provides:

“17. ARBITRATION. All disputes arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or any transaction hereunder shall be finally settled under the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect by an arbitrator appointed in accordance with such Rules.”

(*Id.* at ¶ 17).and

“18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This contract contains the entire agreement between the parties. There are no other agreements, verbal or otherwise, between the parties, except as contained in this contract, with addenda, or as contained in valid change orders.”

(*Id.* at ¶ 18).

When Design Gaps was substantially complete with installation of the his-and-her master closet at the Residence and had arranged for the delivery of all cabinetries at the Residence, Design Gaps reiterated its request for payment for the materials pursuant the terms and conditions of the Contracts. Instead of paying in accordance with the contract terms, the Highsmiths terminated Design Gaps through an email sent by their attorney within a few days following the request for payment on May 14, 2021. Upon information and belief, the Respondents realized that they had already committed to order Distinctive Design’s Master closet cabinetry from drawings dated March 21, 2021. The Highsmiths used the \$97,634.59 completed Design Gaps Master Closet cabinetry while living in the home until the third set of closet cabinets provided by Distinctive Design in the amount of \$182,828.00 came in the following January 2022.

Shelter and Respondent Kacie Highsmith acknowledged that the designs that were to be placed in the Residence were provided by Design Gaps and remained the property of Design Gaps. Bryan Reiss Deposition (*See* R. p. 61, ll. 4-13). Nonetheless, Shelter confirmed that Bryan Reiss of Distinctive Design who was doing several projects for Shelter and cabinetry for a garage

addition at the Residence allowed Bryan Reiss to have access to Design Gaps' designs when forwarded without permission via email by Jenny Butler on January 19, 2021.

**B. The Arbitration**

The claims raised by Respondents in the Arbitration included breach of the Contracts by “(1) failing to timely complete the Project, (2) failing to deliver the contracted goods and services in a good and workmanlike manner free of defects, and (3) effectively abandoning the project”; promissory estoppel; fraud; and piercing the corporate veil/amalgamation. The Respondents alleged “actual, consequential and special damages, and attorney’s fees and costs, are up to \$350,000.00.” Demand for Arbitration (*See R. p. 39*).

The Appellants completely answered each of the allegations included in the complaint. Furthermore, the Appellants settled upon the following counterclaims: negligence, material breach of contract, fraudulent misrepresentations, failure to mitigate damages, tortious interference with contract, civil conspiracy, unfair and deceptive trade practices, violation of the Copyright Act, conversion, and quasi-contract. Interim Order on Motion to Join Additional Third-Party Respondents and Motion to Amend Respondents Counterclaim (*See R. pp. 107-10*). Appellants registered the designs with the Copyright Office and provided proof of the registration to the Arbitrator including the certificate of registration that had been issued. Email to Arbitrator Providing Copyright Registration (*See R. p. 64-6*). Upon recognizing Jenny Butler’s, Bryan Reiss’, and Distinctive Design’s vicarious or direct infringement of the Copyrighted works, David Glover motioned that these parties be joined to the Arbitration. Interim Order on Motion to Join Additional Third-Party Respondents and Motion to Amend Respondents Counterclaim (*See R. pp. 107-10*). In an Interim Order issued on April 20, 2022, the Arbitrator determined that none of these parties have any contract with Design Gaps that call for any dispute to be arbitrated, and neither Shelter nor the Highsmiths consented to the joinder of these parties to the Arbitration. Interim Order on

Motion to Join Additional Third-Party Respondents and Motion to Amende Respondents Counterclaim (*Id.*). Therefore, the Arbitrator denied the Appellant's motion to join Jenny Butler, Bryan Reiss, and Distinctive Design to the Arbitration.

The merits hearing on the claims and counterclaims was held on May 26-27 and June 2, 2022, in Charleston, South Carolina. In the Interim Award of the Arbitrator issued on July 19, 2022, the Arbitrator determined that Respondents were entitled to recover \$152,884.00 from Design Gaps alleging Respondents had paid \$274,647.00 to Distinctive Design that would then be reduced by \$121,763.00 allegedly for increased costs due to a different selection of materials and improvements authorized by the Respondents. Interim Award of Arbitrator (*See R. pp. 118-21*). Appellants timely filed a Motion to Reconsider and Request for Reasoned Award on August 19, 2022. Binding Commercial Arbitration Respondents Motion to Reconsider and Request for Reasoned Award (*See R. pp. 122-49*).

In the Arbitrator's Final Award issued on October 7, 2022, *i.e.*, eighty-three ("83") days prior to the filing of the Petition for Vacatur in the United States District Court on December 29, 2022, in addition to the \$152,884.00 award included in the Interim Award of the Arbitrator, the Arbitrator also awarded Respondents \$143,525.17 for reasonable attorneys' fees and costs associated with the arbitration. Arbitrator's Final Award (*See R. pp. 150-59*). The Arbitrator's total award to Respondents was \$296,409.17 without addressing any of the arguments provided by Appellants in their Motion to Reconsider and Request for Reasoned Award. *Id.* (*See R. pp. 122-49*).

Without determining whether the finished product had directly been copied from and/or bears substantial similarity to Appellants' copyrighted work, a prerequisite according to the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, the Arbitrator merely asserted that Respondents had established fair use

of the design work as supported by an unprecedented determination that Shelter did not profit from the design and further alleging that sharing of a pdf of the design did not impair the marketability of the design. Arbitrator's Final Award (*See R. pp. 164-65*).

The facts in support of Appellants' Motion for Vacatur, as further used as a basis for the arguments herein are that the Arbitrator imposed deadlines on the Appellants that were neither identified in the Contracts nor agreed upon by the parties pursuant to the terms of the Contracts. Motion for Vacatur (*See R. pp. 266-90*). Indeed, the Arbitrator admitted in the Arbitrator's Final Award that the Contracts did not contain "specified completion dates." Arbitrator's Final Award (*See R. p. 154*). None of the completion dates identified by the Arbitrator resulted from written change orders signed and dated by all parties as otherwise required by the Contracts. Therefore, the Arbitration award imposed terms on the Appellants that did not have any support in the Contracts being reviewed in the Arbitration.

Additionally, the Arbitrator failed to provide a "reasoned award" as agreed to be the parties with respect to the ten counterclaims asserted by the Appellants. Motion for Vacatur (*See R. pp. 275-78*). Over the course of the meeting the parties had with the Arbitrator in developing the terms to be included in the Report of the Preliminary Hearing and Scheduling Order, they had agreed that the form of the award would be by "reasoned award," which the Arbitrator selected as instead of the remaining two choices—standard award or finding of facts and conclusions of law. (*See R. pp. 143-45*).

The Arbitrator also chose to make rulings on parties that he had earlier excluded from the Arbitration proceeding—namely, in particular, Jenny Butler, Bryan Reiss, and Distinctive Design. Arbitrator's Final Award (*See R. pp. 155-56*). The Arbitrator had decided that these parties did not infringe Appellants' copyright in the design plans.

Notwithstanding that it appeared the Arbitrator knew of well-defined, explicit, and clearly applicable controlling law, he perversely misconstrued the law at least with respect to the fair use doctrine in overcoming Appellants counterclaim for copyright infringement based upon the ownership provisions in the Contracts. Motion for Vacatur (*See R. pp. 278-282*). Also, the Arbitrator failed to acknowledge that the Respondents had actually breached the Contract when they refused to pay the balance due under the Contract when the Contract expressly states that any such failure is a breach of the agreement. *Id.* (*See R. pp. 286-88*). The Highsmiths outright cancelled the work under the Contract even after all materials had been delivered to the Residence, which is otherwise clearly a breach under well-established black letter contract law.

## **II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

On December 29, 2022, *i.e.*, within eighty-three (“83”) days of when the Arbitrator’s Final Award issued, Appellants filed for an order pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) under 9 U.S.C. § 10 to vacate the Award, in the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina. Petition for Vacatur (*See R. pp. 160-81*). Following the filing of several documents including a motion to dismiss, a memorandum in opposition, a reply brief, a motion for attorneys’ fees that was opposed by Appellants, and a petition to confirm, compel, or vacate the arbitration decision followed by Appellants memorandum in opposition, the District Court denied Appellants petition for vacatur through an order and opinion issued on May 19, 2023. Order and Opinion (*See R. pp. 234-43*). Additionally, the Court granted Respondents’ application for confirmation of the arbitration award and granted Respondents’ motion for attorney fees on June 9, 2023. (*See R. pp. 244-47*). Appellants timely filed their notice of appeal to the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals on July 7, 2023. (*See R. pp. 248-49*). While the appeal proceeded through to Oral Arguments concerning the issues raised in the appeal, the appellate court eventually ruled that Federal Courts lacked subject-matter jurisdiction to proceed with the case and remanded the case to the District

Court. Published Authored Opinion (*See R.* pp. 255-59). The District Court subsequently dismissed the case for the same reason on April 2, 2025. District Court Order of Dismissal (*See R.* p. 260).

Respondents filed their petition for an order confirming the arbitration award with the County of Charleston for the Ninth Judicial Circuit on April 2, 2025, but they had not served Appellants with said Petition. Petition for Order Confirming Arbitration Award (*See R.* pp. 261-65). Inasmuch, Appellants filed a petition for vacatur of the arbitration award on April 9, 2025 (Ninth Judicial Circuit C.A. No. 2025CP1001965). Respondents notified Appellants via email that Respondents had filed the petition for an order confirming the arbitration award. Appellants then filed their notice and motion for vacatur of the arbitration award in the docketed case (“Motion”) on April 9, 2025, i.e., seven (“7”) days following the issuance of the United States District Court of South Carolina’s order dismissing the federal action altogether on April 2, 2025. Motion for Vacatur (*See R.* pp. 266-90). Respondents submitted the exhibits in support of their petition on April 9, 2025. Amended Petition for Order Confirming Arbitration Award with Exhibits (*See R.* pp. 291-425). Appellants then submitted their answer and affirmative defenses to the Petition on April 28, 2025. Respondents’ Answer and Defenses to Amended Petition for Order Confirming Arbitration Award (*See R.* pp. 426-36).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Questions of law are reviewed de novo. *Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 545, 564, 658 S.E.2d 80, 90 (2008). “The question of statutory interpretation is one of law for the court to decide.” *Mead v. Beaufort Cty. Assessor*, 419 S.C. 125, 130, 796 S.E.2d 165, 168 (Ct. App. 2016) (quoting *Alltel Commc’ns, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 399 S.C. 313, 316, 731 S.E.2d 869, 870 (2012)); *see e.g., S.C. DOT v. Revels*, 411 S.C. 1, 8, 766 S.E.2d 700, 704 (2014) (stating that where an issue left to the discretion of a trial court turns on the interpretation of a statute then

“the interpretation of the statute is a question of law that the Court reviews de novo”). Thus, the review of the construction of the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act, in particular, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-30, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-50, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(a), S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(c), is de novo, and “[the appellate court is] free to decide questions of law with no deference to the trial court.” *Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 92, 99, 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct. App. 2009); *Hunt v. Forestry Comm’n*, 358 S.C. 564, 569, 595 S.E.2d 846, 848-49 (Ct. App. 2004). Also, “[w]hether a court order is clear and unambiguous is a question of law for the court.” *Campione v. Best*, 435 S.C. 451, 458, 868 S.E.2d 378, 382 (Ct. App. 2021) (citation omitted).

As to findings of fact, however, a circuit court’s order “will only be disturbed on appeal if the findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an erroneous application of the law.” *Gowdy v. Gibson*, 391 S.C. 374, 379, 706 S.E.2d 495, 497 (2011). “On appeal of an action at law tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the trial court will not be disturbed unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the trial court’s findings.” *Hardaway Concrete Co. v. Hall Contr. Corp.*, 374 S.C. 216, 223, 647 S.E.2d 488, 491 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976)).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN RULING THE MOTION TO VACATE OR MODIFY THE ARBITRATOR’S FINAL AWARD WAS NOT TIMELY FILED**

The trial judge concluded that Appellants’ Motion to Vacate the Arbitrator’s Award was untimely for the reason that the application to vacate the arbitration award must be “made within ninety days after delivery of a copy of the award to the applicant ...”. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(b). Order Granting Petitioners’ Amended Petition for Order Confirming Arbitration Award (See R. pp. 5-6). The trial judge’s reasoning as a basis for this was that the Award was emailed to

the parties on October 7, 2022 and Appellants did not file their motion to vacate with this Court until April 9, 2025. (*Id.*). The trial judge further reasoned that since the only tolling provision under the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act is only for “corruption, fraud or other undue means” a tolling provision for the actions that first went on in the Federal District Court and Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals until the action was finally dismissed based upon lack of subject-matter jurisdiction. (*Id.*).

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