RECEIVED

Mar 27 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr.
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002136
Circuit Case No. 2025-CP-10-01835

Shelter, LLC, Jason Highsmith, and Kacie Highsmith Respondents,

v.

Design Gaps, Inc., David Glover, and Eva Glover Appellants.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP

R. Andrew Walden, S.C. Bar No. 101004
Andrea L. McDonald, S.C. Bar No. 105308
Jordyn N. D'Andrea, S.C. Bar No. 104953

5 Exchange Street
P.O. Box 999
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
T: (843)722-3400
Andrew.Walden@wbd-us.com

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

2. Did the arbitrator exceed his powers meriting vacatur under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(a)(3) by:

- a. Finding that Respondents were justified in terminating the contracts based on Appellants' failure to timely perform, when that determination relied on Appellants' representations rather than written terms of the contracts?
- b. Issuing a written award consistent with South Carolina standards for "reasoned awards"?

3. Did the arbitrator manifestly disregard the law by:

- a. Applying the fair use doctrine to Appellants' copyright infringement claims against Respondents without expressly addressing the arguments regarding the doctrine's scope?
- b. Failing to find that Appellants materially performed under the contracts prior to breaching those contracts?

4. Did the arbitrator refuse to consider evidence or conduct the hearing in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-150 by:

- a. Requiring evidence to be presented at the hearing?
- b. Permitting Appellants to depose and cross-examine non-party witnesses in support of Appellants' vicarious and contributory copyright claims?

5. Did the circuit court improperly confirm the arbitration award after rejecting Appellants' motion to vacate?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal represents Appellants' fourth attempt to vacate an arbitration award entered against Design Gaps, Inc. as a result of Appellants' failure to properly perform certain cabinetry work at the residence of Respondents Jason Highsmith and Kacie Highsmith on Daniel Island, South Carolina (the "Project"). After terminating Design Gaps' contracts on the Project, the Highsmiths and Shelter, LLC initiated arbitration, pursuant to the parties' arbitration agreement, after terminating Design Gaps' contracts on the Project. Following discovery and a three-day hearing, the arbitrator found in favor of the Highsmiths and Shelter, addressing and denying each of Design Gaps' counterclaims. Since issuance of the final award on October 7, 2022, Design Gaps has repeatedly sought to avoid enforcement of the award. Appellants first filed a motion to vacate the award in U.S. District Court, then appealed the district court's denial to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. When that appeal was dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, the Highsmiths and Shelter then promptly filed in the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County to confirm the award and begin collection efforts. Yet again, Appellants moved to vacate the award and, after the court rejected their arguments, filed this latest appeal.

A. The Project and Binding Arbitration.

The Highsmiths engaged Shelter, LLC, owned by Jenny Butler and her late-husband, Ryan Butler, to renovate their residence. On August 18, 2020, the Highsmiths and Design Gaps, Inc. entered into a contract for various cabinetry throughout the residence, and, on September 6, 2020, Shelter and Design Gaps entered into a contract for his-and-hers closets in the master bedroom (collectively, the "Contracts"). (R. pp. 309–10, 312–13). Each of the Contracts were drafted by Design Gaps and contained the same arbitration agreement:

All disputes arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or any transaction hereunder shall be finally settled under the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration

Association then in effect by an [sic] arbitrator appointed in accordance with such Rules. The arbitrator's award shall be final and binding. Judgment upon the award rendered may be entered in any court having jurisdiction over the party against which the award is rendered. The parties expressly consent to the jurisdiction of the federal and state courts situated in Charleston, South Carolina for the purpose of enforcing any arbitration award rendered pursuant to this Section 15 [sic]. The [sic] arbitration shall take place in Charleston, South Carolina or such other place as the parties may agree. The arbitration shall include (i) a provision that the prevailing party in such arbitration shall recover its costs of the arbitration and reasonable attorneys' fees from the other party or parties, and (ii) the amount of such fees and costs. The arbitrators shall be bound to enforce any applicable statute of limitations.

(R. pp. 310, 313, Contracts § 17) (the "Arbitration Agreement").

The Highsmiths and Shelter requested that Design Gaps complete its work approximately four to eight weeks from contract signing, or October and November of 2020, respectively. (R. p. 150, Arbitration Award at 1.) Design Gaps indicated this time frame was achievable. (R. pp. 150–51, *id.* at 1–2.) Pursuant to the Contracts, Design Gaps prepared project drawings and sent them to the Highsmiths and Shelter. However, after numerous, lengthy delays and quality issues, the Highsmiths and Shelter terminated both Contracts with Design Gaps on May 14, 2021. (R. p. 152, *id.* at 3.) Prior to terminating Design Gaps, the Highsmiths and Shelter met with Bryan Reiss, owner of Distinctive Design & Construction, LLC ("Distinctive Design"), to discuss options for completing the project. (R. p. 155, *id.* at 6.) In preparation for this meeting, Shelter emailed Design Gaps' drawings to Distinctive Design for review in completing the work started by Design Gaps. (R. pp. 154–55, *id.* at 6–7.) Following termination, the Highsmiths and Shelter hired Distinctive Design to finish the Project. (R. p. 153, *id.* at 4.) Distinctive Design prepared its own drawings and designs to complete the Project, in part because Design Gaps' plans contained numerous errors. (R. p. 156, *id.* at 7; *see also, e.g.*, R. p. 62, B. Reiss Dep. 120:6–24.)

On July 20, 2021, the Highsmiths and Shelter filed a demand for arbitration against Design Gaps and its owners David and Eva Glover, asserting claims for breach of contract, promissory estoppel, fraud, and piercing the corporate veil (the “Arbitration”). (R. pp. 26–39, Demand for Arbitration.) Design Gaps filed counterclaims alleging negligence, breach of contract, fraudulent misrepresentation, failure to mitigate damages, tortious interference, civil conspiracy, conversion, unfair and deceptive trade practices, quasi-contract, and various violations of the Copyright Act. (R. p. 152, Arbitration Award at 2.) The parties jointly selected Mr. Coker, Esq. to serve as the arbitrator of their claims (the “Arbitrator”). (R. pp. 55–56, Emails Selecting Arbitrator (August 25, 2021).) Appellant David Glover insisted on representing Design Gaps *pro se* in the Arbitration and obtained an opinion from the South Carolina Supreme Court’s Office of Disciplinary Counsel permitting him to do so without a law license. (R. p. 151, Arbitration Award at 2 n.1.) The Arbitrator permitted Mr. Glover to take depositions and conduct other discovery.

Following discovery—including the depositions of Mr. Reiss and Ms. Butler—the parties presented their cases to the Arbitrator. (R. p. 151, *id.* at 2.) Shelter and the Highsmiths called as numerous witnesses, including Ms. Butler and Mr. Reiss. (R. p. 151, *id.*) Design Gaps called only David Glover as witness. (R. p. 151, *id.*) Before issuing his decision, the Arbitrator confirmed that both parties had a full and fair opportunity to present their case:

At the conclusion of that testimony, as arbitrator, I asked each side if they had an adequate opportunity to present in full the evidence which they thought was relevant and important for me to consider in rendering my Award. Each side advised that they had adequate opportunity to present their case with all relevant testimony and exhibits. Therefore, the merits hearing was closed and the parties afforded an opportunity to present post-hearing briefs and proposed orders.

(R. p. 151, *id.*)

On October 7, 2022, the Arbitrator issued a nine-page reasoned award finding in favor of the Highsmiths and Shelter and denying each of Design Gaps’ counterclaims (the “Arbitration

Award” or “Award”). (R. pp. 150–59, the Arbitration Award.) The Arbitrator discounted the damages awarded, however, to account for the higher quality product provided by Distinctive Design and for loss of use not attributable to Design Gaps. (R. pp. 153–54, *id.* at 4–5.) The Award constituted the “full settlement of all claims and counterclaims.” (R. p. 158, *id.* at 9.)

B. Appellants’ Attempts to Vacate the Award.

On December 29, 2022, Design Gaps filed a petition in federal district court to vacate the Award, arguing the Arbitrator was evidently partial, manifestly disregarded the law, and imperfectly executed his duties (the “Vacatur Action”). (R. pp. 160–79, Pet. for Vacatur, No. 2:22-cv-04698, ECF 1 (D.S.C. Dec. 29, 2022).) Shelter and the Highsmiths responded by moving to confirm the Award. (R. p. 199, Appl. for Confirmation, 2:22-cv-04698, ECF 10 (D.S.C. Feb. 28, 2023).) After thorough briefing, the District Court confirmed the Award and rejected all of Design Gaps’ arguments. (R. pp. 234–43, Order & Op., ECF 14, 2:22-cv-04698 (D.S.C. May 19, 2023).) The district court also found the Arbitration Agreement entitled Shelter and the Highsmiths to attorney’s fees and costs they incurred defending the Award. (R. pp. 244–47, Order & Op., 2:22-cv-04698, ECF 15 (D.S.C. June 7, 2023).)

Design Gaps appealed the district court’s orders to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. After the appeal was fully briefed and argued, the Fourth Circuit *sua sponte* dismissed that appeal for lack of federal subject matter jurisdiction. *See Design Gaps, Inc. v. Shelter, LLC*, 130 F.4th 143 (4th Cir. 2025). In so doing, the Fourth Circuit offered no opinion on the merits of the district court’s orders, or of the Award. *See generally id.* On remand, the district court carried out the Fourth Circuit’s mandate by dismissing the case for lack of jurisdiction without addressing the merits of its prior orders. (R. pp. 413–14, Order & J, 2:22-cv-04698, ECF 25 & 26 (D.S.C. April 2, 2025).)

Meanwhile, on January 13, 2023, shortly after filing the Vacatur Action, Design Gaps filed a separate action against Ms. Highsmith, Shelter, its owners the Butlers, Distinctive Design, and its owners the Reisses, alleging, among other things, copyright infringement, Lanham Act violations, unfair trade practices, and violations of South Carolina’s Trade Secrets Act, based on the same alleged misuse of its drawings at issue in the Arbitration. *See Design Gaps v. Distinctive Design & Constr. LLC*, 162 F.4th 452, 468 (4th Cir. 2025). The district court dismissed all claims against Ms. Highsmith, Distinctive Design, and the Reisses as well as all claims against Shelter and the Butlers related to the Project on the grounds that res judicata and collateral estoppel barred relitigation of issues determined in binding arbitration (the “Precluded Claims”). *See id.* at 469. Design Gaps appealed to the Fourth Circuit, arguing, among other things, that it was prevented from litigating its claims in Arbitration due, in large part, to the Arbitrator’s refusal to join Ms. Butler, Mr. Reiss, and Distinctive Design as parties to the Arbitration. *See id.* at 473–74, 476–77. While the appeal was pending, the Fourth Circuit dismissed the Vacatur Action.

Seeking judicial assistance to collect their Award against Design Gaps and to preserve the district court’s dismissal of the Precluded Claims, Shelter and Highsmiths filed a Petition for Order Confirming the Arbitration Award on April 2, 2025, and Amended Petition for Order Confirming the Arbitration Award on April 9, 2025, in the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County. (R. pp. 261–65, Pet. to Confirm; R. pp. 291–96, Am. Pet. to Confirm.) Once again, Appellants filed a motion to vacate the Award in an effort avoid enforcement and its preclusive effects. The circuit court rejected Appellants’ motion and confirmed the Award. With the Award once again confirmed, the Fourth Circuit issued its opinion affirming dismissal of the Precluded Claims, finding that Design Gaps had a full and fair opportunity to litigate its claims in Arbitration. *See Design Gaps v. Distinctive Design & Constr. LLC*, 162 F.4th at 476–78.

Appellants now bring this appeal, once again claiming they were deprived of the ability to present their claims in Arbitration, that the Arbitrator disregarded applicable law and procedure, and that the Award should be vacated to allow for re-litigation of their claims.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The circuit court’s adoption of a legal standard . . . under [S.C. Code] section 15-48-130 is a question of law which [appellate courts] review de novo.” *Crouch Constr. Co. v. Causey*, 405 S.C. 155, 163, 747 S.E.2d 482, 486 (2013). “[A] circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings.” *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009).

“Arbitration is a favored method of settling disputes in South Carolina.” *Gissel*, 382 S.C. at 241, 676 S.E.2d at 323. “When a dispute is submitted to arbitration, the arbitrator determines questions of both law and fact.” *Id.* “Generally, an arbitration award is conclusive and courts will refuse to review the merits of an award.” *C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown*, 403 S.C. 53, 56, 742 S.E.2d 359, 360 (2013) (quoting *Gissel*, 382 S.C. at 241, 676 S.E.2d at 323). “In reviewing arbitration awards, ‘the standards for judicial intervention are . . . narrowly drawn to assure the basic integrity of the arbitration process without meddling in it.’” *Crouch Constr. Co.*, 405 S.C. at 163, 747 S.E.2d at 486 (quoting *Merit Ins. v. Leatherby Ins.*, 714 F.2d 673, 681 (7th Cir. 1983)). “Review of arbitration awards is limited and the decision of an arbitration panel will be vacated only under certain grounds as provided by statute or upon the non-statutory ground of ‘manifest disregard of the law.’” *Harris v. Bennett*, 332 S.C. 238, 243, 503 S.E.2d 782, 785 (Ct. App. 1998).

ARGUMENTS & AUTHORITIES

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THE NINETY-DAY PERIOD TO CHALLENGE AN ARBITRATION AWARD IS TOLLED ONLY FOR CORRUPTION, FRAUD, OR UNDUE MEANS, WHICH IS NOT PRESENT HERE.

The circuit court properly found that, under the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(b), Design Gaps' motion to vacate was untimely. The South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act (UAA) provides that an application to vacate an arbitration award "shall be made within ninety days after delivery of a copy of the award to the applicant, except that, if predicated upon corruption, fraud, or other undue means, it shall be made within ninety days after such grounds are known or should have been known." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-130(b).

Design Gaps filed its motion to vacate on April 9, 2025, nine hundred and fifteen (915) days after receipt of the Arbitration Award on October 7, 2022. It provided no evidence or argument that it was prevented from timely filing due to corruption, fraud, or other undue means. Rather, Design Gaps filed in the wrong court (U.S. District Court for the District of South Carolina) and incorrectly alleged that the district court had jurisdiction to hear its challenges to the Award. *See Design Gaps, Inc. v. Shelter, LLC*, 130 F.4th 143, 146 (4th Cir. 2025) (citing *Badgerow v. Walters*, 596 U.S. 1 (2022)) (dismissing Design Gaps' appeal and noting that the Supreme Court abrogated the look-through approach which allowed for federal question jurisdiction under the Federal Arbitration Act when the underlying arbitration involved questions of federal law).¹

Because Design Gaps' motion to vacate was filed outside the statutory period, the Court's analysis of Design Gaps' appeal should end here, and it should affirm the circuit court's confirmation of the Arbitration Award. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-120 ("Upon application of a

¹ The United States Supreme Court decided *Badgerow* on March 31, 2022, approximately seven (7) months prior to the date Appellants filed their petition to vacate in district court.

party, the court shall confirm an award, unless within the time limits hereinafter imposed grounds are urged for vacating or modifying, or correcting the award”).

A. Design Gaps’ Tolling Arguments are not Preserved for Appeal and are Inapplicable.

Design Gaps raises two arguments in support of tolling the ninety-day period for motions to vacate. Neither theory was raised before the circuit court nor do they apply to the facts at hand.

1. Design Gaps did not raise its tolling theories for consideration by the circuit court and the court did not rule on them.

“As a general rule, an issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to *and* ruled upon by the court below to be preserved for appellate review.” *Harris v. Bennett*, 332 S.C. 238, 245, 503 S.E.2d 782, 786 (Ct. App. 1998) (emphasis added).

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